IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-609

SCA EFiled: Feb 28 2025
03:04PM EST
Transaction ID 75741968

BOHNERT INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
NORVIN RAQUE, and
DAVID GRAESER,
Plaintiffs below, Petitioners,

v.

MOTORISTS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant below, Respondent.

Appeal from the Intermediate Court
of Appeals of West Virginia
(Case No. 23-ICA-194)

PETITIONERS' JOINT OPENING BRIEF

J. Zak Ritchie (WVSB #11705)
Counsel of Record
Isaac R. Forman (WVSB #11668)
Kayla S. Reynolds (WVSB #13268)
HISSAM FORMAN DONOVAN RITCHIE PLLC
P.O. Box 3983
Charleston, WV 25339
(681) 265-3802 *office*
(304) 982-8056 *fax*
zritchie@hfdrlaw.com
iforman@hfdrlaw.com
kreynolds@hfdrlaw.com

INTRODUCTION

Respondent Motorists Mutual has a duty to defend Petitioners (together, “Bohnert”) in the underlying case regardless of whether West Virginia or Kentucky law applies, contrary to the lower court’s decision. Reaching this conclusion is as straightforward as reading the plain text of the insurance policy. Yet, in denying Bohnert’s motion for summary judgment and granting summary judgment to Motorists, the Circuit Court effectively took a blue pencil and scratched out language from the operative policy. On its review, the Intermediate Court ignored Bohnert’s plain text argument, opting instead to sanction the Circuit Court’s rewriting of the Policy. This Court must reverse.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Does Motorists Mutual have a duty to defend Bohnert in the underlying case, regardless of whether West Virginia or Kentucky law applies?
2. Did the Intermediate Court of Appeals err by affirming the Circuit Court’s determination that Kentucky, rather than West Virginia, applies?
3. Did the Intermediate Court of Appeals err by concluding that, under Kentucky law, Motorists has no duty to defend Bohnert in the underlying case?
4. Did the Intermediate Court of Appeals err by affirming the Circuit Court’s premature decision with respect to Motorists’ indemnity obligations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Underlying case

Bohnert International Inc.,¹ is a Kentucky corporation that, beginning in November of 2017, contracted with WV Great Barrel Company, LLC (“Barrel”) to

¹ Petitioners to this matter are Bohnert International, Inc., Norvin Raque and David Graeser. For convenience only, they are collectively referred to as “Bohnert.”

design, manufacture, fabricate, ship, and install a material handling system to be incorporated into Barrel’s new cooperage.² *See* Appx. 405 ¶ 3, 409 ¶17, 412 ¶ 27, 413 ¶ 31. Barrel intended to build its new cooperage in White Sulphur Springs, West Virginia. *Id.* at 413 ¶ 31. Throughout the project, Bohnert provided oversight and operational support for the startup of the material handling system by Barrel employees and supervised various vendors and subcontractors working on the project. *Id.* at 418 ¶ 53 (explaining that “Bohnert was to provide preventative maintenance performed by Bohnert personnel for a six (6) month period after installation”). However, Bohnert also utilized an independent contractor, Erik VanKleef, to “provide[] design, engineering, installation and construction services to Barrel.” Appx. at 446 ¶ 188.

On August 28, 2020, Barrel filed an eleven count complaint against Bohnert seeking recovery for alleged damages relating to the performance of the contract (the “underlying case”).³ The Second Amended Complaint filed by Barrel⁴ asserts the following causes of action: (1) negligence; (2) breach of contract; (3) breach of express warranty; (4) breach of implied warranty of merchantability; (5) breach of implied warranty: fitness for a particular purpose; (6) implied warranty: design-build; (7) fraud; (8) fraudulent transfers; (9) individual liability pierce the corporate veil; (10)

² The cooperage operation was to manufacture white oak barrels for the bourbon, whiskey and rye distilling industries. *See* Appx. 407-08 ¶¶ 12-14.

³ Barrel’s complaint also names one of Bohnert’s independent contractors, Erik Vankleef. *See generally*, Appx. 404–449. Mr. Vankleef is not a party to this appeal.

⁴ WV Great Barrel Company, LLC and WVGBC Real Estate Holdings, LLC are plaintiffs in the underlying case. Appx. 404-405 ¶¶ 1–2.

fraudulent inducement to contract; and (11) negligent design, engineering, installation, and construction. *See generally*, Appx. 404-449.

Essentially, the underlying case includes allegations that Bohnert promised installation of new or “Factory Rebuilt Like New Robots” to perform the tasks of positioning barrels and hoops on the manufacturing line but delivered “used or defective” equipment. Appx. 416 ¶ 46, 428 ¶ 100, 431, ¶ 122. The Second Amended complaint goes on to state that Petitioner Raque and *independent contractor*, Erik Vankleef “represented that Tesla Manufacturing had acquired all worldwide supply of new robots and that waiting for new robots to be manufactured would delay the . . . deadline for barrel production.” *Id.* at 416, ¶ 46. Barrel claims Bohnert failed to timely produce, deliver, and install equipment by the October 1, 2019 deadline established unilaterally by Barrel. *Id.* at 423-24 ¶ 71.

Barrel also alleges that Bohnert’s faulty workmanship, including subcontractors’ failure to properly design, engineer, install, and construct the equipment at issue, caused Barrel to suffer damages. *See* Appx. 420-21, 422-30. As a result, Barrel claims it has incurred costs in remediating the equipment designed, fabricated and installed by Bohnert. *Id.* at 421-22 ¶ 60.

II. The Coverage Litigation

Bohnert maintained an occurrence-based commercial general liability (“CGL”) insurance policy, through Motorists Mutual Insurance Company. Appx. 142-44. After Barrel initiated the underlying case, Bohnert promptly tendered notice to Motorists. *See* Appx. 748-58 (Motorists acknowledging Bohnert’s correspondence and receipt of

the complaint). Motorists disclaimed coverage, tendered a defense under a reservation of rights, and filed a declaratory judgment action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia. *See id.* at 748-58; *see also*, *Motorists Mutual Ins. Co. v. Bohnert Int’l, et al.*, No. 5:22-cv-00028 (S.D. W. Va. 2022). Motorists’ federal case was dismissed for lack of diversity jurisdiction on July 8, 2022. *Id.* Bohnert then filed this declaratory judgment action, concerning Motorists’ duty to defend and indemnify its insureds, in the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County.

The Policy provides, in pertinent part:

BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

1. Insuring Agreement

- a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of “bodily injury” or “property damage” to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured against any “Lawsuit” seeking those damages. However, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any “Lawsuit” seeking damages for “bodily injury” or “property damage” to which this insurance does not apply. We may, at our discretion, investigate any “occurrence” and settle any claim or “Lawsuit” that may result . . .
- b. This insurance applies to “bodily injury” and “property damage” only if:
 - (1) The “bodily injury” or “property damage” is caused by an “occurrence” that takes place in the “coverage territory” . . .

CGL policy 33-302333-10E, at Appx. 683–701, 685. The Policy then goes on to define “occurrence” as “mean[ing] an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to

substantially the same general harmful conditions.” *Id.* at 699. Thereafter, the Policy contains exclusions along with exceptions to those exclusions:

2. Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to:

...

1. Damage To Your Work

“Property Damage” to “your work” arising out of it or any part of it included in the “products-completed operations hazard.”⁵

This exclusion does not apply if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed on your behalf by a subcontractor.

Appx. at 689.

III. The Lower Courts’ decisions

In the Circuit Court, Bohnert and Motorists filed cross-motions for summary judgment as to Motorists’ duty to defend and indemnify. Motorists argued that Kentucky law applied as the Policy was formed in Kentucky and Kentucky had the more significant relationship with the insurance transaction. Appx. at 124-32. Motorists went on to argue it had no duty to defend or indemnify because the claims alleged in the underlying case do not constitute an “occurrence” (under either West Virginia or Kentucky law) and therefore are not covered by the Policy. Appx. at 133-37.

⁵ “Products-completed operations hazard” is defined, in pertinent part, to include “‘property damage’ occurring away from premises you own or rent and arising out of ‘your product’ or ‘your work.’” App. at 699.

Bohnert argued that choice of law favored West Virginia as this state has the most significant relationship—based in large part—on the parties’ justified expectations, as well as public policy considerations. Appx. at 666-72. Bohnert further argued that, regardless of which state’s law applied, Motorists has a duty to defend and indemnify based upon the clear language of the Policy. Appx. at 662-80. Finally, Bohnert argued that, given the nature of the claims in the underlying suit, Motorists’ duty to defend was triggered based upon the “accidental” nature of the claims made.⁶ Appx. at 672-77.

In evaluating choice of law, the Circuit Court found that, as the Policy was formed in Kentucky, Kentucky (rather than West Virginia) law must govern the contract unless one of two exceptions applied. Appx. at 98. The Circuit Court found that Kentucky had the more significant relationship to the transaction and the parties, and that applying Kentucky law would not violate West Virginia’s public policy. Appx. at 98-105. Thereafter, the Circuit Court found that there was no “occurrence” under Kentucky law and thus Motorists has no duty to defend or indemnify Petitioners. Appx. at 106-09. The Circuit Court granted Motorists’ motion for summary judgment, concomitantly denying Petitioners’ motion. Appx. at 113.

On appeal, the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia affirmed each of the Circuit Court’s findings and conclusions above. *See* Appx. at 3-12. In doing so, the ICA evaluated just two of the seven choice of law factors outlined in *Liberty*

⁶ Barrel was permitted to submit a brief in the underlying case wherein it argued that West Virginia had a more significant relationship with the case and that Barrel’s claims constituted an “occurrence” as defined within the Policy. Barrel did not file any brief before the ICA. However, Barrel has sought leave, and submitted, an Amicus Brief before this Court.

Mutual Ins. Co. v. Triangle Indus., Inc., 182 W. Va. 580, 390 S.E.2d 562 (1990) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 6)). *See* Appx. at 8. The ICA went on to affirm the application of Kentucky law, finding that neither exception applied. Appx. at 8-9. Finally, the ICA held that, under Kentucky law, the underlying case did not allege an “occurrence” for which the Policy provides coverage. Appx. at 9-11. In reaching this conclusion, the ICA ignored Petitioners’ “plain language” argument. It is from this decision that Petitioners’ appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In both the Circuit Court and the ICA, Petitioners’ arguments have been the same: under West Virginia or Kentucky law, Petitioners are entitled to indemnity and a defense in the underlying case, paid for by their insurer.

Regardless of whether West Virginia or Kentucky law applies, the four corners of the insurance policy clearly provide that the “Damage to Your Work” “exclusion *does not apply* if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed *on your behalf by a subcontractor*.” Appx. at 689 (emphasis supplied). This provision would be rendered superfluous under Motorists’ reading of the contract. Under well-settled law governing insurance contracts, words are read to have meaning. In interpreting a contract—just like reading a statute—no portion can be read to be without meaning or effect. For this reason alone, coverage is contemplated for the claims at issue in the underlying case.

Here, Bohnert is entitled to application of West Virginia law based upon the parties’ reasonable expectations, the significant relationship with the forum state, or

public policy considerations. This Court’s precedent confirms Motorists’ duty to defend and indemnify its insured pursuant to West Virginia law. Yet even under Kentucky law, the purported damages in the underlying case were fortuitous, i.e., accidental, therefore, Bohnert is entitled to indemnity and a defense paid for by its insurer—Motorists Mutual.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument will assist this Court in the clarification of issues concerning conflicts of law and insurance contract interpretation. Oral argument is appropriate under Rule 19 because this appeal involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and presents narrow issues of law for decision. For these same reasons, a memorandum decision is not appropriate in this matter.

ARGUMENT

In affirming the Circuit Court’s grant of summary judgment to Motorists Mutual—concomitantly denying Bohnert’s cross-motion—the Intermediate Court of Appeals ignored West Virginia’s significant relationship to the parties and the injuries, disregarded the reasonable expectations of the parties, discounted the public policy concerns, and incorrectly applied Kentucky law, ultimately disregarding the plain language of the insurance policy. *See* W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Accordingly, this Court’s review of the decision below is *de novo*. *See Elk Run Coal Co. v. Canopus U.S. Ins., Inc.*, 235 W. Va. 513, 517, 775 S.E.2d 65, 69 (2015).

Additionally, review of the parties’ rights and obligations under an insurance contract are also reviewed *de novo*. *Murray v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 203 W. Va. 477, 482, 509 S.E.2d 1, 6 (1998). Relevant here, “[t]he interpretation of an insurance

contract, including the question of whether the contract is ambiguous, is a legal determination that, like a lower court's grant of summary judgment, shall be reviewed *de novo* on appeal." *Elk Run Coal Co.*, 235 W. Va. at 518, 70 (quoting Syl. pt. 2, *Riffe v. Home Finders Assocs., Inc.*, 205 W.Va. 216, 517 S.E.2d 313 (1999) (alternation in original)). Moreover, the "[d]etermination of the proper coverage of an insurance contract when the facts are not in dispute is a question of law." *Elk Run Coal Co.*, 235 W. Va. at 518, 70 (quoting Syl. pt. 1, *Tennant v. Smallwood*, 211 W.Va. 703, 568 S.E.2d 10 (2002)).

I. The ICA erred in concluding that, under choice of law analysis, West Virginia law did not govern the interpretation of the Policy.

Under both West Virginia and Kentucky law, the interpretation of an insurance policy is a contract question. Where the parties to a contract themselves have not determined which law is to control, or where the "place of contract and the place of the insured risk are different,"⁷ the court "applies the law of the jurisdiction with the 'most significant relationship' to the transaction in dispute." *Lee v. Saliga*, 179 W. Va. 762, 767, 373 S.E.2d 345, 35pt0 (1988). "In a case involving the interpretation of an insurance policy, made in one state to be performed in another, the law of the state of formation of the contract shall govern, unless another state has a more significant relationship to the transaction and the parties, or the law of the other state is contrary to the public policy of this state." Syl. pt. 4, *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Nathaniel Realty, LLC*, 246 W. Va. 676, 874 S.E.2d 788 (2022). Therefore,

⁷ *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Triangle Indus., Inc.*, 182 W. Va. 580, 584, 390 S.E.2d 562, 566 (1990).

West Virginia law must apply if either (1) West Virginia has the most significant relationship to the transaction or the parties; *or* (2) the law of Kentucky is contrary to the public policy of West Virginia.

A. As West Virginia has the most significant relationship, the Policy must be interpreted according to West Virginia law.

To determine which state has a more significant relationship to a transaction, courts look to the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws [for a series of] several nonexclusive factors:

- a. the needs of the interstate and international systems,
- b. the relevant policies of the forum,
- c. the relevant policies of other interested states and the relative interests of those states in the determination of the particular issue,
- d. the protection of justified expectation,
- e. the basic policies underlying the particular field of law,
- f. certainty, predictability and uniformity of result, and
- g. ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied.

Triangle Indus., Inc., 182 W. Va. at 585, 567 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 6)).

In evaluating these choice of law factors, the ICA erred by giving undue weight to just two of the seven. *See* Appx. at 8. In its decision, the ICA looked solely to factors (f)-(g). *See* Appx. at 8. In doing so, the ICA ignored the remaining five factors—including the parties’ justified expectations. *See* Appx. 8-9. This was error.

1. The contracting parties’ justified expectations weigh in favor of applying West Virginia law.

As set forth above, courts closely examine the parties’ justified expectations when determining whether “the insurance company demonstrated any reasonable

expectation at the time the contracts were entered into that any litigation over the policy would be based upon [a certain state's] law.” *Triangle Indus., Inc.*, 182 W. Va. at 585, 567. The doctrine of reasonable expectations is considered by both West Virginia and Kentucky courts in analyzing choice of law. *See Id.* at 585, 567; *see also*, *James Graham Brown Found. Inc., v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 814 S.W.2d 273, 279–80 (Ky. 1991) (analyzing and giving deference to the reasonable expectations created by the insurance policy). The doctrine is well-settled:

The gist of the doctrine [of reasonable expectations] is that the insured is entitled to all the coverage he may reasonably expect to be provided under the policy. Only an unequivocally conspicuous, plain, and clear manifestation of the company’s intent to exclude coverage will defeat that expectation.

Brown v. Indiana Ins. Co., 184 S.W.3d 528, 540 (Ky. 2005) (quoting *Simon v. Cont’l Ins. Co.*, 724 S.W.2d 210, 212–13 (Ky. 1986)); *see also* Syl. pt. 6 *New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. RRK, Inc.*, 230 W. Va. 52, 736 S.E.2d 52 (2012). This doctrine is a corollary to strictly construing ambiguities *against* the insurer.

Here, Motorists included a policy exclusion wherein coverage would not be provided for “Damage to Your Work.” However, that exclusion likewise has an exception.

The relevant exclusionary language reads as follows:

2. Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to:

. . .

m. Damage To Your Work

“Property Damage” to “your work” arising out of it or any part of it included in the “products-completed operations hazard.”⁸

This exclusion *does not apply* if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises *was performed* on your behalf *by a subcontractor*.

Appx. at 689 (emphasis supplied).

Motorists claims that damage for work performed by a subcontractor cannot constitute an “occurrence” under Kentucky law, thus the exception can never apply. Therefore, Motorists’ inclusion of the “Damage to Your Work” exclusion, and its subcontractor exception, plainly communicated to Bohnert petitioners, as the insureds, (as well as any other potential insured) that Kentucky law would *not* apply. Thus, Bohnert reasonably expected—based on the unambiguous terms of the Policy, specifically the “Damage to Your Work” exclusion and its subcontractor exception—that coverage (and a defense) would be provided for any faulty work performed by Bohnert’s subcontractors.

In fact, the very existence of the “Your Work” exclusion and subcontractor exception within the Policy provides confirmation that coverage is *not* excluded for faulty workmanship when the faulty work is performed by a subcontractor. *See French v. Assurance Co., of America*, 448 F.3d 693, 707 (4th Cir. 2006) (recognizing that the policy at issue—which is identical to the Policy here—provides liability coverage for the cost to remedy unexpected and unintentional property damage

⁸ “Products-completed operations hazard” is defined, in pertinent part, to include “‘property damage’ occurring away from premises you own or rent and arising out of ‘your product’ or ‘your work.’” App. at 699.

caused by the subcontractor’s defective workmanship); *but see McBride v. Acuity*, 510 F. App’x 451 (6th Cir. 2013) (declining to extend coverage under subcontractor exception).

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