IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-609

SCA EFiled: Apr 14 2025
04:32PM EDT
Transaction ID 76065023

BOHNERT INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
NORVIN RAQUE, and
DAVID GRAESER,

Plaintiffs below, Petitioners,

v.

MOTORISTS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE BRIEF	

Lee Murray Hall, Esquire (WVSB #6447)
Jason D. Bowles, Esquire (WVSB #12091)
JENKINS FENSTERMAKER, PLLC
Post Office Box 2688
Huntington, West Virginia 25726-2688
Phone: (304) 523-2100
Fax: (304) 523-2347
LMH@JenkinsFenstermaker.com
JDB@JenkinsFenstermaker.com

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The ICA’s rulings should be affirmed. Petitioners have, in effect, advanced the same arguments here as were presented to the ICA. (J.A. Vol I, p. 19.) While now identifying four assignments of error, the same two questions remain dispositive:

- (1) Does Kentucky law govern the Policy; and
- (2) Does the Underlying Liability Action allege an “occurrence” so as to trigger coverage under the Policy?

Petitioners’ Brief aims to obfuscate this Court’s review of these two questions through an erroneous reverse analysis which begins with an assessment of the Policy’s “Damage to Your Work” exclusion and ends with a conclusion that coverage exists. The Kentucky Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected this argument because “consideration of an exclusion if there is no initial grant of coverage constitutes erroneous “**reverse analysis**.” *Robinson*, 2022 Ky. Unpub. LEXIS 37 at *14-15 (emphasis added). When the coverage analysis is appropriately sequenced, the ICA’s ruling is in accord with an overwhelming weight of authority. Pursuant to this Court’s holdings in

Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Triangle Indus., Inc., 182 W. Va. 580, 585, 390 S.E.2d 562, 567 (W.Va. 1990) and its progeny, Kentucky law controls.

The Kentucky Supreme Court has made its stance clear on claims flowing from faulty workmanship: they do not constitute an “occurrence” within the meaning of a CGL policy. See e.g., *Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Motorists Mut. Ins. Co.*, 306 S.W.3d 69 (Ky. 2010); *Martin/Elias Props., LLC v. Acuity*, 544 S.W.3d 639, 643 (Ky. 2018). The allegations in the Underlying Liability Action all flow from faulty workmanship. For this reason, both the circuit court and the ICA concluded that Respondent owes no duty to defend Petitioners in the Underlying Liability Action. This Court should affirm.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Respondent states that oral argument is unnecessary pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a)(3) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided.

ARGUMENT

I. The ICA Appropriately Concluded That Kentucky Law Controls.

This choice of law determination is guided by the principles announced in *Triangle*, 182 W. Va. 580, 585, 390 S.E.2d 562. The *Triangle* decision is premised on the following conflicts of law rule:

[I]n a case involving the interpretation of an insurance policy, made in one state to be performed in another, the law of the state of the formation of the contract shall govern, unless another state has a more significant relationship to the transaction and the parties, or the law of the other state is contrary to the public policy of this state.

Id. at 567. Stated differently, a choice of law analysis in the interpretation of an insurance contract begins with a presumption that the law of the formation state governs. The presumption can only

be overcome if it is demonstrated that another state has a more significant relationship to the transaction and parties, or the law of the other state is contrary to West Virginia public policy. *Id.*

Here, the contract was formed in Kentucky. Thus, the analysis begins with the presumption that Kentucky law governs the contract between Bohnert and Respondent.

A. The ICA Properly Found That Kentucky Has the Most Significant Relationship to the Insurance Transaction and the Parties to the Insurance Contract.

When assessing whether one state has a “more significant relationship” with an insurance contract, this Court has examined a series of factors. These factors include:

- (a) the needs of the interstate and international systems,
- (b) the relevant policies of the forum,
- (c) the relevant policies of other interested states and the relative interests of those states in the determination of the particular issue,
- (d) the protection of justified expectations,
- (e) the basic policies underlying the particular field of law,
- (f) certainty, predictability and uniformity of result, and
- (g) ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied.

See Triangle, 182 W. Va. 580, 585, 390 S.E.2d at 567.

Triangle involved a commercial general liability insurance policy issued in New Jersey for the purpose of insuring a New Jersey company with a number of processing plants located in several states, including one in West Virginia. *Id.* at 563. A coverage dispute arose after a lawsuit was filed as the result of the West Virginia plant’s shipment of toxic sludge to an Ohio landfill. *Id.* at 566. The coverage dispute turned on a choice of law issue relating to interpretation of the

insurance policy. After considering the seven factors set forth above, the Court concluded that the law of the state of contract, New Jersey, should apply. *Id.*

The Court placed great emphasis on uniformity and predictability, holding that “certainty, predictability and uniformity of result,” as well as “ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied” were essential to the interpretation of an insurance policy when the law is not otherwise chosen by the parties. *Id.* at 567. The Court further noted there was no indication that “*the insurance company* demonstrated any reasonable expectation at the time the contracts were entered into that any litigation over the policy would be based upon West Virginia law.” *Id.* (Emphasis added). Finally, the Court concluded “that, absent a specific provision to the contrary, ***it is infinitely more practicable*** to permit one policy to cover the numerous contracts rather than to require both . . . [the insured] and the insurance companies to negotiate individual policies based upon each state where an insured risk is located.” *Id.* (Emphasis added).

The principles underlying *Triangle* have been repeatedly reinforced by this Court and Federal Courts analyzing West Virginia conflicts of law questions. *See, e.g., Nadler v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 188 W. Va. 329, 424 S.E.2d 256, 262 (1992); *Howe v. Howe*, 218 W. Va. 638, 625 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2005); *Johnson v. Neal*, 187 W. Va. 239, 418 S.E.2d 349, 351 (1992) (*per curiam*). *See also, Mulvey Constr., Inc. v. Bituminous Cas. Corp.*, 571 Fed. Appx. 150 (4th Cir. 2014); *St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Nat’l Sur. Corp.*, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4363 (N.D. W. Va. Jan. 14, 2015). In fact, the reasoning adopted by the *Triangle* Court was thoroughly examined and applied by Judge Irene Keeley in *Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. Harleysville Ins. Co.*, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 180146; 2013 WL 6813905 (N.D. W. Va. Dec. 24, 2013) (memorandum decision). Although this Court is not bound by the rulings of the United States District Court for the Northern District of

West Virginia, *Harleysville* is instructive insofar as the “more significant relationship” test was analyzed on facts closely resembling those at issue here.

Harleysville involved the construction of a private hotel in Granville, West Virginia. *Id.* at *2. Certain out-of-state contractors were retained to perform construction activities for the hotel. *Id.* A liability suit was ultimately filed as the result of a contractor’s “failure to perform its contractual duties in a workmanlike manner,” including “numerous examples of improperly completed, non-code installation [of] room air handling, plumbing, electrical, HVAC, and sanitary sewer lines and fire code requirements.” *Id.* at *9. A coverage dispute arose out of the liability suit. To resolve the coverage dispute, Judge Keeley was required to determine whether West Virginia or Pennsylvania law governed the insurance coverage questions. *Id.* at *19. One litigant argued West Virginia law should apply because the work was performed in West Virginia, while the other litigant argued that Pennsylvania law should apply because the policy was issued in Pennsylvania. *Id.*

Judge Keeley began her analysis with reference to *Triangle* and its “more significant relationship” test. *Id.* at *12. She explicitly rejected the argument that West Virginia had the more significant relationship as the state in which the work had been performed. *Id.* at *18. The Court noted that “CGL policies usually insure risks in multiple states. Thus, were courts to adopt a rule uniformly applying the law of the state of the insured risk to CGL policies, especially policies issued to large companies, the laws of as many as fifty different states might apply.” *Id.* at *21. Judge Keeley continued, “such a result would confound all of the relevant factors under [the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Law].” *Id.* It would defy expectations of insurers and insureds and “undermine the predictability and uniformity of the law, which does not presume that parties

to a CGL policy reasonably expect that the law of any state where litigation commences will apply to their policy.” *Id.*

In this case, like in *Harleysville*, Petitioners contend that West Virginia has the “more significant relationship” to the transaction and parties. (Pet’rs Br. at 10.) Aside from the fact that the alleged faulty workmanship occurred in West Virginia, West Virginia has virtually no relationship to the Policy. The Policy was formed in Kentucky. (J.A. Vol. I, p. 57-58.) It includes Kentucky surcharges and Kentucky endorsements. *Id.* at 59, 72, 134. The risks insured—including the premises, equipment, and vehicles—are registered and located in Kentucky. *Id.* at 59-62. There is no reference to West Virginia property, structures, equipment, vehicles, pricing, or endorsements. What is more, Petitioners did not contract with Barrel for development of a cooperage in West Virginia until November 2017—more than a full year *after* the Policy was first issued to Bohnert. (J.A. Vol I, p. 3, 93, Vol II, at p. 149.) Thus, at the time the insurance contract was entered, there was absolutely no indication that it would be governed by any law other than that of Kentucky.

Nevertheless, Petitioners claim that they maintained a “justified expectation” that “Kentucky law would *not* apply.” (Pet’rs Br. at 12.) In support of this argument, they claim that they “reasonably expected” Kentucky law would not apply based on the “Damage to Your Work” exclusion. *Id.* at 10-12. Petitioners conflate the “reasonable expectations” doctrine with the “justified expectations” consideration in a choice of law analysis. They argue that “the doctrine of reasonable expectations” entitles them to “all the coverage [they] may reasonably expect to be provided under the policy.” *Id.* at 11.

In arguing the reasonable expectations doctrine, Petitioners overlook the fact that it can only be invoked when a policy is determined to be ambiguous. This is true under both Kentucky

and West Virginia law. See *Thomas v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 626 S.W.3d 504, 509 (Ky. 2021) (“the reasonable expectations doctrine applies only to policies with ambiguous terms”); Syl. pt. 2, *Robertson v. Fowler*, 197 W. Va. 116, 475 S.E.2d 116 (1996) (“[b]efore the doctrine of reasonable expectations is applicable to an insurance contract, there must be an ambiguity regarding the terms of that contract”). There is no argument that the Policy in this case is ambiguous. To the contrary, Petitioners explicitly state that they “reasonably expected” that Kentucky law would not apply “based on the **unambiguous** terms of the Policy[.]” (Pet’rs Br. at 12.) (Emphasis added). By Petitioners’ own admission, the doctrine of reasonable expectations has no place here.

Beyond the flawed “reasonable expectations” argument, Petitioners ignore the *Triangle* factors governing the more significant relationship test. Under Petitioners’ rationale, there is no consideration of certainty, predictability, uniformity of result, ease of application of the law, or the needs of the interstate judicial system.³

Presumably because Petitioners cannot meaningfully address the *Triangle* factors, they rely on *Joy Techn., Inc. v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co.*, 187 W. Va. 742, 421 S.E.2d 493 (W. Va. 1992), and encourage the Court to base its choice of law decision on the location of injury and instrumentality of injury. In *Joy Technologies*, a company that cleaned and repaired mining machinery in West Virginia was alleged to have introduced toxic pollutants into West Virginia property. *Id.* at 494. The company was sued for property damage and personal injuries. *Id.* Its insurer argued that there was no coverage for those claims based upon a policy exclusion. *Id.* at

³ Petitioners criticize the ICA’s reliance on certainty, predictability, and uniformity of result, as well as the ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied. (Pet’rs. Br. at 10.) Petitioners fail to acknowledge, however, that this Court has instructed the lower courts that these factors are the “essential” considerations when interpreting an insurance policy. See *Triangle*, 182 W. Va. 580, 585, 390 S.E.2d at 567. (“We believe that ‘certainty, predictability and uniformity of result,’ as well as ‘ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied’ is essential to the interpretation of an insurance policy when the law is not otherwise chosen by the parties.”)

493-96. The insurer maintained that Pennsylvania law governed because the insurance policy was issued in Pennsylvania. *Id.* at 495-96. Conversely, the insured company argued that West Virginia had a more significant relationship and, resultingly, its law should apply. *Id.*

Although the *Joy Technologies* Court identified factors relevant to a significant relationship, it ultimately based its decision on the public policy exception because of representations made before the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner at the time that the Liberty Mutual policy exclusion was submitted and approved. The *Joy Technologies* Court noted:

As will hereinafter be discussed, this Court believes that Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, in studied, affirmative and official communications with a regulatory authority of the State of West Virginia, prior to the institution of this action, took the position that the exclusion in question in the present case would have a meaning and effect different from that attributed to it by the State of Pennsylvania. In view of this, if this Court held that Pennsylvania law applied to the questions in issue, it would allow Liberty Mutual Insurance Company to take a position, and act in a manner, inconsistent with Liberty Mutual's studied, unambiguous, official and affirmative representations. Such, in this Court's view, would be inconsistent with, and contrary to, the public policy of this State.

Id. at 497.

The Court explained that Liberty Mutual had submitted its proposed exclusionary language to the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner, who held a hearing to consider the proposed language. *Id.* at 499. In connection with the hearing, Liberty Mutual submitted an explanation of the exclusion which provided, "coverage is continued for pollution or contamination caused injuries when the pollution or contamination results from an accident." *Id.* at 500. An affidavit submitted by the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner further confirmed that the insurers had represented that the proposed forms did not limit and were not intended to limit coverage. *Id.* These representations were confirmed in a written order approving the exclusion. *Id.*

The *Joy Technologies* Court based its choice of law decision on the patent inconsistency between Liberty Mutual's earlier representations and its position with regard to coverage for Joy Technologies. West Virginia public policy, per the Court, prohibited an insurance carrier from acting in a manner inconsistent with its prior representations to this state:

The public policy of the State of West Virginia is that the law of the State should be administered in such a way as to insure that corporations which seek to do business in West Virginia act in a manner consistent with their studied, unambiguous, official, affirmative representations to the State, its subdivisions, or its regulatory bodies.

Syl. Pt. 2, *id.*

Thus, contrary to Petitioners' contention, *Joy Technologies* did not turn on the location of injury and instrumentality of injury. In fact, just two years later, the Court in *Cannelton Indus. v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co. of Am.*, 194 W. Va. 186, 460 S.E.2d 1, 10 (1994) confirmed that it had based its choice of law decision in *Joy Technologies* on the public policy exception and not the significant relationship test. ("On an appeal in *Joy Technologies*, *supra*, we used the second exception [public policy] of the Syllabus of *Triangle Industries*, and we applied the law of West Virginia rather than the law of Pennsylvania which is where the insurance contracts were formed.")

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